STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS **DISTRICT I**

RECEIVED

08-11-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2017AP968CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMEY LAMONT JACKSON

Defendant-Appellant.

AN APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED ON FEBRUARY 3, 2015 AND SENTENCE IMPOSED ON FEBRUARY 3, 2015, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, BY THE HONORABLE DANIEL L. KONKOL, AND ORDER DENYING JACKSON'S MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED ON MAY 5, 2017, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE M. JOSEPH DONALD, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Cheryl A. Ward

ISSUES PRESENTED

Did the trial court err by finding that Jackson is not entitled to a new trial based on trial counsel's ineffective assistance of counsel?

Answer by Circuit Court: No

Whether there was sufficient evidence presented at the trial to support the jury's finding of guilt?

Answer by Circuit Court: Yes

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The claims raised by Jackson do not present any change in law or warrant an extension in existing law therefore, oral argument and publication are not requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a felony case in the circuit court for Milwaukee County. On February 3, 2015, Jackson was convicted by a jury of one count of felon in possession of a firearm. (16,22). On February 3, 2015, the Honorable Daniel L. Konkol presiding sentenced Jackson to 5 years initial confinement and 5 years extended supervision on Count 1. (22, 26, 69). On March 6, 2017 Jackson filed a postconviction motion requesting a new trial based on ineffective assistance of counsel. (46; App. 101-118). On March 8, 2017, the circuit court set a briefing schedule. (47). On April 11, 2017, the State filed a response. (50; App. 119-125). On April 24, 2017, Jackson filed a reply. (51; App. 126-137). Without holding any hearing on the motion, the circuit court, the Honorable M. Joseph Donald, presiding, denied the motion, in an order dated May 5, 2017. (51; App.132-137). Jackson now appeals.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

In a criminal complaint filed on June 2, 2014, Jackson was charged with one count of felon in possession of a firearm. (1). The possession of a firearm by a felon charge arose when Jackson was accused of possessing a firearm and shooting at another person. (1). Jackson was a convicted felon at the time of the incident. (1).

The incident occurred on May 21, 2014. (1). The lineup in this case took place on May 30, 2014. The lineup was recorded. From February 2, 2015 to February 3, 2015 a trial was held. Due to the fact that Jackson stipulated at trial that he was a convicted felon, the main issue at trial was identification. At the end of the trial Jackson was found guilty. (69:20-23). The court went straight to sentencing after trial. (69:25-37). On February 3, 2015, Jackson was sentenced to 5 years initial confinement and 5 years extended (69:25-37).

Trial Counsel filed a timely notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief on February 23, 2015. (24). Jackson was assigned two other appellate counsels who subsequently withdrew from the case before undersigned counsel was appointed. The time for filing a postconviction motion or notice of appeal was extended and on March 6, 2017 Jackson filed a postconviction motion requesting a new trial based on ineffective assistance of counsel. (46; App. 101-118). On March 8, 2017, the circuit court set a briefing schedule. (47). On April 11, 2017, the State filed a response to the postconviction motion. (50; App. 119-125). On April 24, 2017, Jackson filed a reply to the State's response. (51; App. 126-131).

Without holding any hearing on the motion, the circuit court, the Honorable M. Joseph Donald, presiding, denied the motion, in an order dated May 5, 2017. (51; App.132-137). A timely notice of appeal was filed on May 22, 2017. (55).

ARGUMENT

I. JACKSON IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL DUE TO THE FACT THAT HIS TRIAL COUNSEL PROVIDED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

The standard for review for ineffective assistance of counsel is that the circuit court makes factual findings regarding counsel's performance they are upheld unless they are clearly erroneous, but whether counsel's performance was deficient under the constitutional standard presents a question of law, which is reviewed de novo. *See State v. Doss*, 2008 WI 93, ¶23, 312 Wis.2d570, 754 N. W.2d 150.

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show both that trial counsel's performance was deficient and that the deficiency was prejudicial. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 697, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). The standard for determining whether counsel's assistance is effective under the Wisconsin Constitution is the same as that under the Federal Constitution. See State v. Sanchez, 201 Wis.2d 219, 235-36, 548 N.W.2d 69 (1996). Performance is deficient if it falls outside the range of professionally competent representation, measured by the objective standard of what a reasonably prudent attorney would do under the circumstances. State v. Pitsch, 124Wis.2d 628, 636-37, 369 N.W.2d 711 (1985). Prejudice is demonstrated where, but for counsel's deficient performance, there was a reasonable probability of a different trial outcome. State v. Erickson, 227 Wis.2d 758, 773, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999).

A. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR NOT CHALLENGING THE IMPERMISSIBLY SUGGESTIVE LINEUP

"'A criminal defendant is denied due process when identification evidence admitted at trial stems from a pretrial police procedure that is so impermissibly suggestive as to give rise to a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.'" *State v. Benton*, 2001 WI App 81, ¶5, 243 Wis. 2d 54, 625 N.W.2d 923 (citation and one set of quotation marks omitted).

The test for fairness in a lineup depends upon the totality of the circumstances surrounding the lineup, as explained by our supreme court in *Wright v. State*, "The 'totality of circumstances' reference is a reminder that there can be an infinite variety of differing situations involved in the conduct of a particular lineup. The police authorities are required to make every effort reasonable under the circumstances to conduct a fair and balanced presentation of alternative possibilities for identification. The police are not required to conduct a search for identical twins in age, height, weight or facial features." *Wright v. State*, 46 Wis. 2d 75, 86, 175 N.W. 2d 646, (1970):

Our supreme court, in *Powell v. State*, 86 Wis. 2d 51, 271 N.W.2d 610 (1978), noted that "'[i]t is the likelihood of misidentification which violates a defendant's right to due process." *Id.* at 64 (quoting *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188, 199 (1972)). *Powell* explained a two-part procedure for determining the admissibility of pretrial identification evidence. *Id.* at 65. The court must first decide whether the defendant has shown that the identification procedure was impermissibly suggestive. *Id.* If the defendant fails to satisfy the burden of showing that the lineup was impermissibly suggestive, the inquiry ends. *State v. Mosley*, 102 Wis. 2d 636, 652, 307 N.W.2d 200 (1981).

The "overriding question" in determining whether a defendant's rights were violated as a result of an impermissibly suggestive lineup is "whether under the 'totality of the circumstances' the identification was reliable even though the

confrontation procedure was suggestive." *Powell*, 86 Wis. 2d at 64-65 (citation omitted). The *Powell* court looked to the specific guidelines provided by *Biggers* to determine whether the totality of the circumstances made an identification reliable even if a pretrial procedure was suggestive:

"[T]he factors to be considered in evaluating the likelihood of misidentification include the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, the witness' degree of attention, the accuracy of the witness' prior description of the criminal, the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and the length of time between the crime and the confrontation *Powell*, 86 Wis. 2d at 65 (citing *Biggers*, 409 U.S. at 199-200).

The incident that the charge arose from occurred on May 21, 2014. The lineup took place on May 30, 2014. The lineup procedure in this case was recorded. The lineup occurred 9 days after the shooting.

There were 5 people that viewed the lineup. These 5 people all viewed the same lineup and could see each other at the lineup. The lineup was viewed once and then B.B. raised her hand and said out loud for all of the other people viewing the lineup to hear stated that she wanted to see number 5 again. (46; App. 101-118). Jackson was in the number 5 position. (46; App. 101-118).

K.G. was interviewed on May 21, 2014. The same day of the incident. She did not identify by name any suspects. (46; App. 113-114). She did not say that she knew any of the suspects. (46; App. 113-114). At the lineup, 9 days later, she told the officer that she did circle no first but then circled yes. (46; App. 116). She told the officer that she knew this person and his name was TY. (46; App. 116). The fact that she circled no but then circled yes shows that she was unsure. When B.B. specifically says out loud that she wants to see number 5 again it unduly influenced K.G. because she

wasnt sure to begin with if it was number 5. On February 2, 2015, K.G. testified at trial that she did not know this person by name or nickname. (67:137). She also testified that she didnt remember why she wrote TY on the identification sheet. (67:141). K.G. also testified that she was 12 years old. (67:117).

The request to specifically see number 5 in the lineup again was unfairly suggestive to the other people at the lineup. K.G.'s identification was not reliable. She could not identify anyone by name or say this is the person that did this when she was questioned about this incident the day that it happened. She at first circled no when she saw Mr. Jackson and then circled yes. Only after B.B. asked to see number 5 again did K.G. then say that she knew number 5 for one year and his name was TY. If she has seen him in the neighborhood and knew his name was TY, why did she not give that information to the police on the date of the incident when she was interviewed. Based on the totality of circumstances, the identification was unreliable.

T.M. was at the lineup and she wrote looks familiar next to number 5, then scribbled out that word and then said yes to number 5. (46:118). She was unduly influenced by B.B.'s request to see number 5 again. On February 2, 2015, T.M. testified at trial that she was 14 years old. (67:165). Further at trial she identifies a person in the gallery as the person she saw that day as Jamey. (69: 168-170,181,188). Then after the person in the gallery leaves she is asked if she sees anybody in the park that night in this room and she says no. (69:189). She testified that Jamey was the person in the audience and TY was Mr. Jackson. (69:197-198). Then she testifies that TY and Jamey are the same person. (69:216-217).

The request to specifically see number 5 in the lineup again was unfairly suggestive to the other people at the lineup. T.M.'s identification was not reliable.

The identification in these proceedings prejudiced the defendant and should have been suppressed. A reasonably prudent attorney would have filed a suppression motion. The entire trial revolved around identification and that was the defense that was used at trial. In suppressing the identification of the lineup there is a reasonably probability that there would have been a different outcome based on the fact that the State would not have been able to use the lineup identification of two witnesses.

II. THERE WAS NOT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT THE TRIAL TO SUPPORT THE JURY'S FINDING OF GUILT

Jackson was found guilty by the jury of possession of a firearm by a felon. Jackson argues that the evidence presented a trial was insufficient to find him guilty.

In order to convict an individual for the charge of possession of a firearm by a felon, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt the following elements: (1) the defendant possessed a firearm; (2) the defendant had been convicted of a felony before the date of the offense. J.I.-Criminal 1343.

When the defendant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, the standard of review is, "an appellate court may not reverse a conviction unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so insufficient in probative value and force that it can be said as a matter of law that no trier of fact, acting reasonably could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis.2d 493, 501, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990).

Jackson contends that the testimony presented by the State's witnesses was insufficient to find the defendant guilty. Jackson did not contest that he was previously convicted of a crime so the only issue for the jury was whether or not he possessed a firearm.

On February 2, 2015, K.G. testified at the trial. She testified that she did not know the name or nickname of the person she identifies as Jackson. (67:137). She then testifies that she wrote the name TY on the lineup identification sheet but then testifies that she didnt remember why she wrote TY on the identification sheet. (67:141). Further, in her testimony K.G. says that she could only describe one person to the police which was the person that ran towards her which was the person without the gun. (67:161).

K. G.'s testimony was confusing she testified about only seeing one person a person without the gun yet then proceeded to identify Jackson as someone with a gun. She said during the lineup that she wrote down that he was TY but then couldnt remember why she wrote that name down. Her testimony does not show that Jackson possessed a firearm beyond a reasonable doubt.

T.M. identifies a person in the gallery as the person she saw that day as Jamey. (69: 168-170,181,188). Then after the person in the gallery leaves she is asked if she sees anybody in the park that night in this room and she says no. (69:189). She testified that Jamey was the person in the audience and TY was Mr. Jackson. (69:197-198). Then she testifies that TY and Jamey are different people. (69:197-198). Then she testifies that TY and Jamey are the same person. (69:216-217). She also testifies that she learned the name Jamey from the TV. (69:218). She testifies hat she saw his picture on TV and it looked like TY and they said his name was Jamey. (69:218).

T.M.'s testimony was confusing. She identifies someone in the gallery as the person being there. She talks as if TY and Jamey are the same person and then not the same person. She also testifies about seeing Jamey's picture on TV. Her testimony does not show

that Jackson possessed a firearm beyond a reasonable doubt.

In viewing the evidence provided, no trier of fact could reasonably find that the evidence provided proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Jackson possessed a firearm. All of the above evidence combined is insufficient to establish that the defendant was guilty of possession of a firearm by a felon.

CONCLUSION

For, the reasons stated above Jackson asks this Court to reverse the decision of the circuit court and remand for a new trial or a hearing to address the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel or in the alternative reverse the finding of guilt and remand to the trial court to dismiss the case.