RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 09-25-2017

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP968-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMEY LAMONT JACKSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DANIEL L. KONKOL AND M. JOSEPH DONALD, RESPECTIVELY, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Jackson is not entitled to a new trial on his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel.

A. Standard of review

Appellate review of Jackson's ineffective assistance of counsel claims is a mixed question of law and fact. *State v. Williams*, 2015 WI 75, ¶ 35, 364 Wis. 2d 126, 867 N.W.2d

⁶ Jackson also argued that his right to counsel was violated when the police conducted the lineup without counsel present, but he does not pursue that argument on appeal.

736. The circuit court's findings of fact are upheld unless clearly erroneous. *Id.* Whether counsel's performance is constitutionally infirm is a question of law this Court reviews *de novo. State v. Domke*, 2011 WI 95, ¶ 33, 337 Wis. 2d 268, 805 N.W.2d 364.

B. Relevant legal principles

It is well-settled that the right to counsel contained in the United States Constitution⁷ and the Wisconsin Constitution⁸ includes the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). A defendant who asserts ineffective assistance must demonstrate: (1) counsel performed deficiently, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. Id. at 687. "The defendant has the burden of proof on both components" of the Strickland test. State v. Smith, 207 Wis. 2d 258, 273, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). If a defendant fails to prove one prong of the *Strickland* test, a court need not consider the other prong. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697.

To prove deficient performance, Jackson "must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Id.* at 688. "Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential." *Id.* at 689. The objective standard of reasonableness encompasses a wide range of professionally competent assistance, and "every effort is made to avoid determinations of ineffectiveness based on hindsight." *State v. Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 127, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990). "Counsel need not be perfect, indeed not even very good, to be constitutionally

⁷ U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV.

⁸ Wis. Const. art. I, § 7.

adequate." State v. Thiel, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 19, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305 (citation omitted).

In determining constitutionally effective assistance, the standard is not "what would have been ideal, but rather ... what amounts to reasonably effective representation." *State v. McMahon*, 186 Wis. 2d 68, 80, 519 N.W.2d 621 (Ct. App. 1994). "Even if it appears, in hindsight, that another defense would have been more effective, the strategic decision will be upheld as long as it is founded on rationality of fact and law." *State v. Hubanks*, 173 Wis. 2d 1, 28, 496 N.W.2d 96 (Ct. App. 1992).

Establishing prejudice under *Strickland* is difficult. "It is not enough for [Jackson] to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693. Jackson "must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id*. at 694; *State v. Love*, 2005 WI 116, ¶ 30, 284 Wis. 2d 111, 700 N.W.2d 62.

C. Jackson's counsel was not deficient for failing to challenge the admission of the lineup identifications because the lineup procedure was not unduly suggestive and the witnesses' identification of Jackson was reliable.

The circuit court properly denied Jackson's postconviction motion without a hearing because Jackson has not shown that his attorney was constitutionally deficient for failing to challenge the admissibility of KG's and TM's lineup identifications. It is well-established that "[c]ounsel does not render deficient performance for failing to bring a suppression motion that would have been denied." *State v. Maloney*, 2005 WI 74, ¶ 37, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 583 (citing *State v. Harvey*, 139 Wis. 2d 353, 380, 407 N.W.2d 235 (1987)).

The admission of identification evidence violates a defendant's due process rights if it stems from a police procedure that is "so impermissibly suggestive as to give rise substantial likelihood of to verv irreparable а misidentification." State v. Benton, 2001 WI App 81, ¶ 5, 243 Wis. 2d 54, 625 N.W.2d 923 (citation omitted). Courts apply a two-part test to assess the admissibility of pretrial identification evidence. Powell v. State, 86 Wis. 2d 51, 65, 271 N.W.2d 610 (1978). First, the court must decide whether the defendant has shown that the identification procedure was impermissibly suggestive. Id. This Court's analysis ends if the defendant fails to satisfy his burden in this first step. Id. at 68. If the defendant satisfies his burden, the State must then demonstrate that, despite the suggestive procedure, the identification was reliable under the totality of the circumstances. Id. at 64–65.

Whether a lineup is impermissibly suggestive depends upon the totality of the circumstances surrounding the lineup. Wright v. State, 46 Wis. 2d 75, 86, 175 N.W.2d 646 (1970). The police must "make every effort reasonable under the circumstances to conduct a fair and balanced presentation of alternative possibilities for identification." *Id.* "What is required is the attempt to conduct a fair lineup, taking all steps reasonable under the 'totality of circumstances' to secure such [a] result." Id. The factors to be considered when evaluating reliability of the statement include such factors as: (1) the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime; (2) the witness' degree of attention; (3) the accuracy of the witness' prior description of the criminal; (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation; and (5)

the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. *Powell*, 86 Wis. 2d at 65. This list is non-exhaustive, and the test is again whether the out-of-court identification was reliable under the totality of the circumstances. *Id*.

Had counsel filed a motion, the court would have denied it because the lineup was not impermissibly suggestive and the two identifications Jackson challenges were reliable. There was nothing about the lineup that gave "rise to a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification." Benton, 243 Wis. 2d 54, ¶ 5. Jackson claims that TM's and KG's identifications were unduly influenced because BB "raised her hand and said out loud for all the other people viewing the lineup to hear . . . that she wanted to see number 5 [Jackson] again." (Jackson's Br. 8.) But he fails to allege any facts suggesting that KG and TM identified him because of BB's request. (Id.) He also fails to acknowledge that KG and TM each gave contemporaneous, reliable explanations for why they identified Jackson as the shooter, and none of them had anything to do with BB's statement.

First, there is no evidence that the lineup was impermissibly suggestive. The lineup was conducted only nine days after the crime when events would still be fresh in the witnesses' minds. (See R. 46:15.) When BB asked to see number five again, the detectives ran the entire lineup again and did not single out Jackson. (See R. 46:15.) Nothing suggests that either KG or TM were influenced by BB's asking to see number five again. Neither KG nor TM gave any indication during their post-lineup interview that they even heard BB say something. (See R. 46:16, 18.) Additionally, during cross-examination, Jackson asked BB if she asked "out loud" to see number five again, and BB said "no." (R. 69:17.) Rather, BB said she had asked the police officer standing next to her if she could see number five again, and the officer told her they would have to run the whole lineup again. (R. 69:17–18.) Detective Pajot testified that he heard BB ask to see number five again during the lineup, (R. 69:31–33), but neither KM nor TG gave any indication that they had heard BB ask. Nothing about the lineup "give[s] rise to a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification." *Benton*, 243 Wis. 2d 54, ¶ 5.

Second, TM's and KG's lineup identifications of Jackson reliable under the were totality of the circumstances. Both TM and KG independently explained that that they identified Jackson because they saw him carrying a gun at the crime scene. When interviewed after the lineup, KG said she circled "no" at first but then circled "yes" for number five. (R. 41:16.) She said knew number five from seeing him in the neighborhood for at least a year, and that he went by the nickname "TY." (R. 46:16.) She said she circled number five because she saw "TY" with a gun shooting at someone named "Red" that day. (R. 46:16.) Similarly, TM explained during her post-lineup interview that she was familiar with number five because she had seen him around the neighborhood for at least two years. (R. 46:18.) She said she had circled number five because "she was positive that the person in position 5 [was] the person she saw with a gun on the playground shooting back toward the street." (R. 46:18.)

Both TM and KG were familiar with Jackson from seeing him around their neighborhood in the past. They both were on the playground that day and had an opportunity to see the shooters. They both said that they identified Jackson because they saw him at the playground shooting a gun that day. Under the totality of the circumstances, their identifications were reliable even if they heard BB ask to see number five again.

And since there was nothing impermissibly suggestive about the lineup and TM's and KG's identifications were reliable, there would have been no basis for the court to grant a suppression motion. Consequently, Jackson's trial counsel cannot have performed deficiently by failing to file one. *Maloney*, 281 Wis. 2d 595, \P 37.

D. Jackson has not sufficiently alleged prejudice from trial counsel's failure to attempt to suppress the lineup identification evidence.

Even if Jackson's attorney was deficient for failing to file TM's and KG's a motion to suppress lineup identifications, Jackson's claim fails because he has not sufficiently alleged and cannot show prejudice. "[T]he defendant must affirmatively prove prejudice." State v. O'Brien, 214 Wis. 2d 328, 347, 572 N.W.2d 870 (Ct. App. 1997). To do so, Jackson had to allege "within the four corners" of his postconviction motion sufficient facts showing that, but for his attorney's deficient performance, there is a reasonable probability of a different outcome at trial. State v. Allen, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 23, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 443. "Wisconsin courts have long held that conclusory allegations factual support are insufficient" to entitle without defendants to relief. State v. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 313, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996).

Jackson's prejudice both his argument in postconviction motion and his brief consists of a single sentence stating that there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of his trial would have been different had his attorney filed a suppression motion. (See R. 46:5; Jackson's Br. 10.) But he has not alleged any facts in support. (See id.) Jackson's allegation that the outcome of his trial would have been different had his attorney filed the motion is undeveloped and conclusory, and it is insufficient to afford him relief. Consequently, the circuit court properly rejected his motion without a hearing, and this Court need not address his prejudice claim. See Allen, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 12 (circuit courts may deny an insufficiently pled postconviction

motion without a hearing); *State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992) (court of appeals may decline to address undeveloped arguments).

Additionally, the record shows that there is not a reasonable probability of a different result even had KG's and TM's lineup identifications been suppressed. Jackson fails to address the fact that BB's lineup identification, which was the most certain of the three, would still have been admitted even had his attorney successfully moved to suppress KG's and TM's lineup identifications. (See R. 46:11 (BB was "one hundred percent positive" Jackson was the man she saw with a gun); R. 69:8–11.) Jackson also fails to address the fact that KG, TM, and Detective Pajot all identified him in court. (See R. 68:139-41, 191-94; 69:29.) The jury's verdict shows that they found the witnesses' identifications of Jackson credible. There is nothing to suggest that the jury would have found the in-court identifications and BB's lineup report testimony less credible without KG's and TM's lineup report testimony. There is not a reasonable probability that the jury would have doubted Jackson possessed the gun without TM's and KG's lineup identifications.

II. There was sufficient evidence to support the jury's finding that Jackson was guilty of possession of a firearm.

A. Standard of review

"[W]hether the evidence was sufficient to sustain a verdict of guilt in a criminal prosecution is a question of law" which this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Smith*, 2012 WI 91, ¶ 24, 342 Wis. 2d 710, 817 N.W.2d 410 (citation omitted). However, review of a sufficiency of the evidence challenge is very narrow, and the reviewing court must give great deference to the trier of fact. *State v. Hayes*, 2004 WI 80, ¶ 57, 273 Wis. 2d 1, 681 N.W.2d 203. "[A]n appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990).

B. Relevant legal principles

This Court may overturn the fact finder's verdict "only if the trier of fact could not possibly have drawn the appropriate inferences from the evidence adduced at trial to find the requisite guilt." State v. Watkins, 2002 WI 101, ¶ 68, 255 Wis. 2d 265, 647 N.W.2d 244. It is the trier of fact that decides which evidence is worthy of belief, which evidence is not, and how to resolve any conflicts in the evidence. State v. Wilson, 149 Wis. 2d 878, 894, 440 N.W.2d 534 (1989). This Court "must examine the record to find facts that support upholding the jury's decision to convict." Hayes, 273 Wis. 2d 1, \P 57. Therefore, when more than one inference can reasonably be drawn from the evidence, the inference that supports the trier of fact's verdict must be the one followed on review. State v. Allbaugh, 148 Wis. 2d 807, 809, 436 N.W.2d 898 (Ct. App. 1989); see also Smith, 342 Wis. 2d 710, ¶ 31 (reaffirming the holding in *Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 506, that "the trier of fact is free to choose among conflicting inferences of the evidence and may, within the bounds of reason, reject that inference which is consistent with innocence of the accused").

The credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given their testimony are exclusively for the trier of fact to determine. *State v. Perkins*, 2004 WI App 213, ¶¶ 14–15, 277 Wis. 2d 243, 689 N.W.2d 684; *Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 504, 506. The trier of fact must resolve any conflicts or inconsistencies in the evidence, whether in the testimony of the same witness or in the testimony of different witnesses. Perkins, 277 Wis. 2d 243, ¶ 15. A reviewing court may substitute its judgment for the determination of the trier of fact only if the court can conclude as a matter of law that no finder of fact could believe the testimony. State v. Garcia, 195 Wis. 2d 68, 75, 535 N.W.2d 124 (Ct. App. 1995); State v. Wind, 60 Wis. 2d 267, 275, 208 N.W.2d 357 (1973). Testimony is incredible as a matter of law only if it is "in conflict with the uniform course of nature or with fully established or conceded facts." State v. King, 187 Wis. 2d 548, 562, 523 N.W.2d 159 (Ct. App. 1994).

C. There was sufficient evidence for the jury to find that Jackson was in possession of a firearm.

The testimony presented at trial was sufficient for a reasonable jury to find that Jackson possessed a firearm.

KG testified that she was dancing and singing with her sister and some friends when she heard gunshots and ran toward the school. (R. 68:123–27.) She said that a "dude" ran past her and said "they shot that little girl" and kept going toward the parking lot. (R. 68:127.) She testified that she remembered telling the police about the men on the steps and about a car pulling up, but she did not remember telling them the men from the car were the shooters. (R. 69:129.)

The prosecutor then asked KG about her lineup report. (R. 68:130.) KG testified that she had circled "yes" under number five because he was one of the two men she saw shooting at each other. (R. 68:131–32.) She said that she did not see the man who was standing in the street (Lewis) anywhere in the room. (R. 68:133.) She again said that she circled number five because he was the man who had been standing in the playground shooting toward the man in the street. (R. 68:136.) She said she knew the man in the street's nickname, "Red," and that the other shooter was the one she picked out of the lineup. (R. 68:138–39.) She said she saw that person in the courtroom. (R. 68:139.) She identified Jackson as the man shooting toward "Red" from the playground and the one she picked out of the lineup. (R. 68:140.) She said she was sure he was the other shooter. (R. 68:140–41.)

TM testified that she circled "yes" on number five because she knew the man and knew he was one of the shooters. (R. 68:177–78.) She testified that she knew that person as "T-Y." (R. 68:191–92.) Though she said she did not see anyone who was in the "park" that night in the courtroom, she also testified that the person she knew as "T-Y" was Jackson and identified him in court. (R. 68:192.) She testified that there were multiple people present with multiple nicknames and that she was getting confused. (R. 68:215–19.) But she definitively testified that she saw two people shooting that day, Sylvester or "Red," and "T-Y," and that "Red" was shooting toward the playground and "T-Y" was shooting back at "Red." (R. 68:194.)

BB testified that as she was walking home near the playground that evening she heard gunshots. (R. 69:7.) She said a man with a gun ran past her away from the school. (R. 69:8.) She then testified about her lineup report where she had identified Jackson and that she was one hundred percent certain he was one of the men she saw running from the scene with a gun. (R. 69:8–16.)

Viewed most favorably to the State and the verdict, this testimony was sufficient to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Jackson had possessed a firearm. Three witnesses who were at the scene testified that Jackson was the second shooter and that they knew that because they saw him with a gun. The jury found their identifications credible, and Jackson has presented nothing to undermine the jury's finding.

Jackson argues only that KG's and TM's testimony was "confusing," and claims that therefore it was insufficient to establish he possessed a firearm beyond a reasonable doubt. (Jackson's Br. 11.) In other words, he proceeds as though this Court reevaluates the evidence on appeal giving no deference to the jury's verdict. (See Jackson's Br. 11–12.) But that is not how this Court reviews the sufficiency of the evidence on appeal. See, e.g., Garcia, 195 Wis. 2d 75. Rather, Jackson must establish that no reasonable finder of fact could believe the witnesses' testimony. Id. To do so, Jackson must show that their testimony is "in conflict with the uniform course of nature or with fully established or conceded facts." King, 187 Wis. 2d at 562. Jackson has alleged nothing showing that the testimony placing him at the scene with a gun is in conflict with the uniform course of nature or with fully established facts. (Jackson's Br. 11–12.) All three witnesses were under oath, all three had been present at the scene of the crime, and all three testified that they personally saw Jackson with a gun that day. The fact that Jackson believes the testimony was confusing does not establish that no trier of fact could reasonably find the witnesses' identification of Jackson credible. Jackson has failed to meet his burden and this Court should reject his claim.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court reject Jackson's claims and affirm his conviction.